EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE IN NEW SOUTH WALES:

HISTORICISING THE PRESENT

Sandra Mary Wong

BEd (ECE Hons) Macquarie University

A thesis submitted to Macquarie University in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Institute of Early Childhood

Australian Centre for Educational Studies

Macquarie University

Sydney

February, 2006

HIGHER DEGREE THESIS AUTHOR'S CONSENT (DOCTORAL)

In the light of this policy and the policy of the above Rules, I agree to allow a copy of my thesis to be deposited in the University Library for consultation, loan and photocopying forthwith.

Signature of Witness

Signature of Candidate

Dated this Seven teenth day of fe bruang 2006

Office Use Only

The Academic Senate on 14 July 2006 resolved that the candidate had satisfied requirements for admission to the degree of 2000 of Philosophy.

This thesis represents a major part of the prescribed program of study.

DEDICATION

In loving memory of my father Alexander Moyes Pettigrew 1913 - 1981

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF APPENDICES	ix
ABSTRACT	xi
STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY	xiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xv
INTRODUCTION	1
Aim of the Study The Contemporary Context of ECEC in NSW	
Questions Underpinning The Study	
Theoretical Orientations and Methodology	
Rationale for Examining the Period 1893 — 1915	
The Contribution of the Study	
Outline of Chapters	
Notes About Footnoting and Referencing	
A Personal Journey	
·	
CHAPTER ONE:	15
THEORETICAL UNDERSTANDINGS	
Part One: Social Constructionist Understandings about Meanings	18
Multiple Meanings Exist for any Phenomenon	20
Are Postmodern Perspectives Problematic for a	21
Social Justice Orientation?	
Childhood: An Example of a Socially Constructed Phenomenon	
Meanings are Constituted within Discourses	
Discourses Operate in a Field of Discursivity	
Power Operates through Discourses	34 36
Part Two: The Use of History for Critiquing the Present	
Historicising the Present	
History is a Field of Heterogenous Events	
Constructs are Historically Contingent	
History is Not a Story of Progress	
Historical Study is Subjective	
History of the Present Focuses on the Present	
Conclusion to Chapter One	
•	
CHAPTER TWO:	
METHODOLOGY	
Discourse Analysis	
Unmasking the Naturalness of Constructs	
Making Visible the Power that Underlies Constructs	
Identifying Positions of Resistance	
Recognising the Dynamic Nature of Constructs	
Objects of the Analysis	
Previous Studies Utilising Discourse Analysis to Examine ECEC	
The Current Study	

Method	65
Data Sources	65
Public Texts	65
Professional Texts	68
Government Texts	70
Some Considerations in Relation to Historical Sources	72
Data analysis	72
Identifying Constructs	
Identifying Power	
Identifying Discourses	
Conclusion to Chapter Two	76
CHAPTER THREE:	
CONTEMPORARY CONSTRUCTS OF EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION	
AND CARE: A CRITICAL REVIEW: PART ONE	
Construct One: ECEC as Separate Education	
Early Childhood: Birth to Eight Years	
Early Childhood Education and Care: Birth to Eight Years	
Two Distinct Constructs of ECEC	80
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as Separate Education:	0.4
Challenging the Assumptions Underlying the Separation of ECEC	
Marginalising ECEC?	
Crossing Educational Borders	
ECEC as Preparation	
Construct Two: ECEC as Progressive Education	92
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as Progressive Education:	0.4
The Individual Focus	
The Play Focus	
The Dynamic Nature of ECEC Pedagogy	
Construct Three: ECEC as Scientific Education and Care	98
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as Scientific Education and Care:	101
Questioning Scientific 'Truths'	101
The Case of 'Brain Research'	
Challenging Developmentally Appropriate Practice	
Conclusion to Chapter Three	114
CHAPTER FOUR:	
CONTEMPORARY CONSTRUCTS OF EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE: A CRITICAL REVIEW: PART TWO	115
Construct Four: ECEC as Socially Just Education	
Rescuing Children	
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as Socially Just:	110
Vulnerable Children	121
What does the Curriculum Teach?	
What does the Curriculum Teach? Who has Access? Who Gets Saved?	
Teachers are Children's Saviours	128

Construct Five: ECEC as National Work	
An Investment in the Future Potential of Children	
A Commercial Venture that Benefits the Nation	
Facilitating Workforce Participation	
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as Benefiting the Nation:	
Constructing Children as Resources	
Using Economic Arguments to Advocate ECEC	
Constructing ECEC as a Commodity142	
ECEC in Competition	
Constructing ECEC as Facilitating Workforce Participation	
Construct Six: ECEC as Women's Work	
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Women's Work:	
Care as Women's Work	
The Consequences of Essentialist Views for ECEC	
Conclusion to Chapter Four	
Conclusion to Chapter 1 our	
CHAPTER FIVE:	
EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE CONSTRUCTED AS	
SEPARATE EDUCATION161	
Some developments in Public Education in New South Wales	
School Attendance of Young Children in New South Wales164	
Problematising Six as the Lower Age of Attendance	
Economic Discourses in Late Nineteenth Century New South Wales	
The Construction of Education within Economic Discourses	
The Construction of Education for Children Younger than Six Years Within	
Economic Discourses: An Unnecessary Expense	
Problematising the Exclusion of Young Children	
The Construction of Education for Children Younger than Six Years within	
Economic Discourses: Too Young to Learn	,
Problematising The Construction of Children as Too Young to Learn 183	,
The Construction of Education for Children Younger than Six Years Within	
Economic Discourses: A Danger to Their Health	,
Problematising The Construction of Education for Children Younger than	
Six Years as a Danger to Their Health	ŗ
The Construction of Education for Children Younger than Six Years within	
Economic Discourses: Outside the Parameters of State Provided Education)
Problematising The Construction of Education for Children Younger than	
Six as Outside the Parameters of State Provided Education)
The Construction of ECEC as Outside the Parameters of State Provision: A	
Critical Moment in the Construction of a Separate ECEC	2
Conclusion to Chapter Five	
CHAPTER SIX:	
FREE KINDERGARTEN CONSTRUCTED AS PROGRESSIVE EDUCATION 194	1
Liberal / Progressive Discourses	
Liberal / progressive discourses and the Construction of the Child	
Liberal / progressive discourses and the Construction of Education	
Liberal / progressive discourses and the Construction of Kindergarten as	,
Progressive Education 202	2
	-

Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergartens as Models of Kindergarten	The 'Failure' of Kindergarten in Public Schools	207
Kindergarten		
Kindergarten	Kindergarten	212
Kindergarten	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergartens as Models of	
Childhood Education and Care		214
Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Early Childhood Education and Care	The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Early	
Education and Care The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Preparation for Later Schooling		217
The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Preparation for Later Schooling		
Preparation for Later Schooling		218
Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Preparation for Later Schooling		220
Later Schooling		220
The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Child-Centred Education		001
Centred Education		221
Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Child-Centred Education		222
Education		222
The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Play-Based Education	<u> </u>	225
Education		
Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Play-Based Education		
Education		221
The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Dynamic and Shifting Education		229
and Shifting Education		
Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Dynamic and Shifting Education		230
Shifting Education		
CHAPTER SEVEN: ECEC CONSTRUCTED AS SCIENTIFIC EDUCATION AND CARE		236
CHAPTER SEVEN: ECEC CONSTRUCTED AS SCIENTIFIC EDUCATION AND CARE		
The Rise of Scientific Discourses in the Nineteenth Century	•	
The Rise of Scientific Discourses in the Nineteenth Century	CHADTED CEVEN.	
The Rise of Scientific Discourses in the Nineteenth Century 23 Scientific Discourses and the Construction of the Child 24 Scientific Discourses and the Construction of Education 24 The Construction of ECEC within Scientific Discourses: Education and Care Based on Scientific Knowledge 24 Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Based on Scientific Knowledge 24 The Construction of Kindergarten within Scientific Discourses: Scientific Teaching 25 Problematising the Construction of Kindergarten as Scientific Teaching 25 Conclusion to Chapter Seven 25 CHAPTER EIGHT: ECEC CONSTRUCTED AS SOCIALLY JUST EDUCATION 26 Approaches to Poverty: A Moral Issue 26 Approaches to Poverty: Changing the System 26		220
Scientific Discourses and the Construction of the Child		
Scientific Discourses and the Construction of Education		
The Construction of ECEC within Scientific Discourses: Education and Care Based on Scientific Knowledge		
Based on Scientific Knowledge		240
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Based on Scientific Knowledge		249
Knowledge		240
The Construction of Kindergarten within Scientific Discourses: Scientific Teaching	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	240
Teaching		447
Problematising the Construction of Kindergarten as Scientific Teaching		250
CHAPTER EIGHT: ECEC CONSTRUCTED AS SOCIALLY JUST EDUCATION		
CHAPTER EIGHT: ECEC CONSTRUCTED AS SOCIALLY JUST EDUCATION		
ECEC CONSTRUCTED AS SOCIALLY JUST EDUCATION	Colletusion to Chapter Seven	239
ECEC CONSTRUCTED AS SOCIALLY JUST EDUCATION		
Liberal / Progressive Discourses and the Construction of Poverty		
Approaches to Poverty: A Moral Issue		
Approaches to Poverty: Changing the System	-	
Approaches to Poverty: Changing the Individual27		
	Approaches to Poverty: Changing the Individual	270

Vulnerable	
The Construction of Free Kindergartens within Liberal / Progressive Discourses:	212
Philanthropic Organisations	276
Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergartens as Philanthropic	2, 0
Organisations	280
The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Liberal / Progressive Discourses:	
Rescuing Poor Children	281
Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Rescuing Children	
Based on the Idea of The Vulnerable and Innocent Child	
The Focus on Morality Rather than Physical Safety	
The Construction of Free Kindergartens within Liberal / Progressive Discourses:	
Forming Children	290
Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Forming Children	
Changing the Individual	
The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Liberal / Progressive Discourses:	
Reforming Society	295
Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Reforming	
Society:	
Colonising the Poor	302
The Focus on Mothers	
Conclusion to Chapter Eight	306
CHAPTER NINE: ECEC CONSTRUCTED AS NATIONAL WORK Nationalist Discourses	
Nationalist Discourses and the Construction of the Child as Valuable Asset	
Nationalist Discourses and the Construction of the Child as Dangerous	
The Construction Of ECEC within Nationalist Discourses: Saving Children	
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Saving Children	
The Construction of ECEC within Nationalist Discourses: Producing Future	
Productive Citizens	334
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Producing Future Productive	
Citizens	342
The Construction Of ECEC within Nationalist Discourses: Crime Prevention	343
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Crime Prevention: Upholding	Ţ
the Construct of Children as Dangerous	
Conclusion to Chapter Nine	
CHAPTER TEN:	
ECEC CONSTRUCTED AS WOMEN'S WORK	
Essential Woman Discourses and the Construction of Women	
New Woman Discourses and the Construction of Women	
New Woman Discourses and the Franchise	
New Woman Discourses and Female Higher Education	
	365
New Woman Discourses and Female Employment	365
	365 367

The Construction of ECEC within Gender Discourses: Legitimate Employment	
for Women	374
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Legitimate Employment for	
Women	
The Construction of ECEC within Gender Discourses: Education for Women	
Professional Education for Women	
Mother Education	392
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Women's Education	394
The Construction of ECEC within Gender Discourses: Work for the Benefit of	
Women	396
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Work for the Benefit of	
Women	400
Conclusion to Chapter Ten	403
CHAPTER ELEVEN:	
DISCUSSION	
Historical and Contemporary Constructs of ECEC in NSW	
Constructs of ECEC in NSW Emerge within a Particular Discursive Framework.	
Economic Discourses	
Liberal / Progressive Discourses	
Scientific Discourses	
Nationalist Discourses	
Gender Discourses	
Challenging Contemporary Constructs	412
Are Alternative Constructs of ECEC Possible?	413
Implications of the Study for ECEC Professionals and Policy Makers	415
The Usefulness of Historical Study for Addressing Issues of the Present	420
Limitations of My Study	421
Contribution of the Study to the Scholarly Literature	422
Suggestions for Further Research	426
Concluding Thoughts	429
REFERENCE LIST	431
A DDENDICES	466

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3: Diagrammatic representation of the constructs of ECEC identified and the discursive field within which they emerged	Figure 1:	Diagrammatic representation of a discursive field.	
the discursive field within which they emerged	Figure 2:	How constructs emerge from the discursive field	. 35
Figure 4: The construction of ECEC as separate education within economic discourses	Figure 3:	Diagrammatic representation of the constructs of ECEC identified and	
discourses	_		75
Figure 5: The fatman's fat headed policy, 1896	Figure 4:	The construction of ECEC as separate education within economic	
Figure 6: An interested party (Sir Henry Parkes attempting to gain school admittance for young children), 1893			
admittance for young children), 1893	Figure 5:	The fatman's fat headed policy, 1896.	173
Figure 7: The construction of ECEC as progressive education within liberal / progressive discourses	Figure 6:	An interested party (Sir Henry Parkes attempting to gain school	
Figure 8: Program of Kindergarten Demonstration at Sydney Town Hall, 1912	-		181
Figure 8: Program of Kindergarten Demonstration at Sydney Town Hall, 1912	Figure 7:	The construction of ECEC as progressive education within liberal /	
Town Hall, 1912			196
Town Hall, 1912	Figure 8:	Program of Kindergarten Demonstration at Sydney	
Figure 10: Children playing in Golden Fleece Free Kindergarten, Chippendale, circa 1913. 231 Figure 11: The construction of ECEC as scientific education within scientific discourses. 238 Figure 12: The construction of ECEC as socially just education within liberal / progressive discourses. 263 Figure 13: A bathing party, 1898. 303 Figure 14: The construction of ECEC as national work within nationalist discourses. 308 Figure 15: Australia for the Australians, 1896. 313 Figure 16: Breaking the news, 1896. 319 Figure 17: Saluting the flag, 1914. 341 Figure 18: The construction of ECEC as women's work within gender discourses. 354 Figure 19: House-meeting, Fröebel House, circa 1904. 389 Figure 20: The constructs of ECEC identified and the discursive field within which they emerged. 406 **LIST OF APPENDICES** Appendix 1: Letter from KU Children's Services. 466 Appendix 2: Letter from KU Children's Services. 468 Appendix 3: Letter from KU Children's Services. 469 Appendix 5: Table summarising data sources. 470 Appendix 6: Example of early stage data analysis. 471 Appendix 7: Example of beginning coding and development of categories. 472 Appendix 8: Example of early stages of development of broad discourses. 473 Appendix 9: Summary of Findings: Separate Education. 474 Appendix 11: Summary of Findings: Scientific Education and Care. 476 Appendix 12: Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education. 475 Appendix 13: Summary of Findings: National Work. 478		Town Hall, 1912	215
Chippendale, circa 1913	Figure 9:	Children and staff of Woolloomooloo Free Kindergarten, 1896	219
Figure 12: The construction of ECEC as scientific education within scientific discourses	Figure 10:	Children playing in Golden Fleece Free Kindergarten,	
Figure 12: The construction of ECEC as scientific education within scientific discourses		Chippendale, circa 1913.	231
Figure 12: The construction of ECEC as socially just education within liberal / progressive discourses	Figure 11:	The construction of ECEC as scientific education within scientific	
progressive discourses	J	discourses	238
Figure 13: A bathing party, 1898	Figure 12:	The construction of ECEC as socially just education within liberal /	
Figure 13: A bathing party, 1898		progressive discourses	263
Figure 14: The construction of ECEC as national work within nationalist discourses. 308 Figure 15: Australia for the Australians, 1896. 313 Figure 16: Breaking the news, 1896. 319 Figure 17: Saluting the flag, 1914. 341 Figure 18: The construction of ECEC as women's work within gender discourses. 354 Figure 19: House-meeting, Fröebel House, circa 1904. 389 Figure 20: The constructs of ECEC identified and the discursive field within which they emerged. 406 LIST OF APPENDICES Appendix 1: Letter from KU Children's Services. 466 Appendix 3: Letter from KU Children's Services. 468 Appendix 4: Letter from KU Children's Services, Inc. 469 Appendix 5: Table summarising data sources. 470 Appendix 6: Example of early stage data analysis. 471 Appendix 7: Example of early stage of development of categories. 472 Appendix 9: Summary of Findings: Separate Education. 474 Appendix 10: Summary of Findings: Progressive Education and Care. 476 Appendix 12: Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education. 478 Appendix 13: Summary of Findings: National Work. 478	Figure 13:		
Figure 15: Australia for the Australians, 1896	-		
Figure 16: Breaking the news, 1896	•	Australia for the Australians, 1896.	313
Figure 17: Saluting the flag, 1914	•		
Figure 18: The construction of ECEC as women's work within gender discourses	•		
Figure 19: House-meeting, Fröebel House, circa 1904	_		
Figure 20: The constructs of ECEC identified and the discursive field within which they emerged	_		
LIST OF APPENDICES Appendix 1: Letter from KU Children's Services	•		
Appendix 1: Letter from KU Children's Services	J		406
Appendix 1: Letter from KU Children's Services			
Appendix 2: Letter from The Bulletin		LIST OF APPENDICES	
Appendix 3: Letter from KU Children's Services	1.1		
Appendix 4: Letter from SDN Children's Services, Inc	Appendix 2:		
Appendix 5: Table summarising data sources			
Appendix 6: Example of early stage data analysis	Appendix 4:	Letter from SDN Children's Services, Inc.	469
Appendix 7: Example of beginning coding and development of categories. 472 Appendix 8: Example of early stages of development of broad discourses. 473 Appendix 9: Summary of Findings: Separate Education. 475 Appendix 10: Summary of Findings: Progressive Education. 475 Appendix 11: Summary of Findings: Scientific Education and Care. 476 Appendix 12: Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education. 475 Appendix 13: Summary of Findings: National Work. 476	Appendix 5:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Appendix 8:Example of early stages of development of broad discourses.473Appendix 9:Summary of Findings: Separate Education.474Appendix 10:Summary of Findings: Progressive Education.475Appendix 11:Summary of Findings: Scientific Education and Care.476Appendix 12:Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education.477Appendix 13:Summary of Findings: National Work.478	Appendix 6:		
Appendix 9:Summary of Findings: Separate Education.474Appendix 10:Summary of Findings: Progressive Education.475Appendix 11:Summary of Findings: Scientific Education and Care.476Appendix 12:Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education.475Appendix 13:Summary of Findings: National Work.475	Appendix 7:	Example of beginning coding and development of categories	472
Appendix 10:Summary of Findings: Progressive Education.475Appendix 11:Summary of Findings: Scientific Education and Care.476Appendix 12:Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education.477Appendix 13:Summary of Findings: National Work.478	Appendix 8:		
Appendix 11: Summary of Findings: Scientific Education and Care.476Appendix 12: Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education.477Appendix 13: Summary of Findings: National Work.478	Appendix 9:	Summary of Findings: Separate Education.	474
Appendix 12: Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education	Appendix 10:	Summary of Findings: Progressive Education.	475
Appendix 13: Summary of Findings: National Work			
- 	Appendix 12:	Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education	477
Appendix 14: Summary of Findings: Women's Work			
••	Appendix 14:	Summary of Findings: Women's Work	479

X

ABSTRACT

This study critically analyses contemporary early childhood education and care (ECEC) in New South Wales (NSW), Australia, by historicising the present. In doing so, it contributes to a growing body of work that problematises current constructs of ECEC. Taking a social constructionist perspective that meanings are socially constructed within discourses, I use critical discourse analysis to identify and problematise multiple constructions of ECEC evident in a range of written public, government and professional texts; first in the contemporary NSW context and then in the period 1893 – 1915, the 'moment' when ECEC first emerged as separate education in Australia.

In both periods, ECEC was constructed in similar ways; as: separate education; scientific education and care; progressive education; socially just education; national work and women's work. I show how both in the historical and contemporary contexts these constructs emerged within: economic; liberal / progressive; scientific; nationalist and gender discourses. I highlight how power operated through these constructs in a variety of ways to uphold dominant ways of being. I argue that the remarkable similarities between the construction of ECEC in the two periods suggests that these discourses create a discursive framework which creates the opportunity for multiple constructs of ECEC to be produced, but which also limits and confines what ECEC 'is' or can 'be'.

These findings assist those of us who advocate for ECEC to recognise and understand how alternative, and even contradictory constructs of ECEC may exist concurrently. Such understandings may facilitate dialogue between parties who may differ in their views about the purposes of ECEC. The findings also place a burden on us to continually critically reflect upon and clearly articulate how and why we view ECEC in the ways we do. Further, they provide incentives for us to look beyond the ways ECEC is constructed and to challenge the discourses that make up the discursive framework in which ECEC is situated.

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY

The work contained in this thesis has not been previously submitted for a degree or diploma at any other higher education institution. To the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no materials previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made.

Signed

Date July 2006

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This journey has not been taken alone. A number of people have sustained me along the way. Foremost, I wish to give sincere appreciation to my Principal Supervisor, Associate Professor Jennifer Sumsion for her encouragement and support, and for always asking the 'hard' questions that led to the improvements in my work. I also give thanks to my Associate Supervisor, Dr Margaret White for her aesthetic eye and her passion for historical research and its place in the study of early childhood education and care.

I thank my colleagues at the Institute of Early Childhood, for providing a stimulating environment in which to work and study. In particular, I would like to thank Dr Sheila Degatardi, whose own doctoral journey often crossed paths with mine and consequently led to many constructive conversations, and Dr Shirley Wyver and Dr Catherine Neilsen-Hewett for their continued encouragement and invaluable insights, as well as their support for my growth as a tertiary teacher.

I thank Ms Antoinette le Marchant of KU Children's Services, for allowing me the privilege of accessing and photocopying The Kindergarten Union of New South Wales archives. I express my sincere appreciation to the staff of the Mitchell Wing of the State Library of New South Wales, for their wealth of knowledge about the archives, their patience and dedication.

Finally, my doctoral journey would not have been possible without the committed support of my family. To my husband, Arthur, whose quiet and patient support has been unyielding, I express my deepest love. To my children, Emily, James and Henry, who have shared the struggles, joys and pain with good humour and concern — my love as always, and thanks for all the tea!



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF APPENDICES	
ABSTRACT	xi
STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY	X 111
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	XV
Aim of the Study The Contemporary Context of ECEC in NSW Questions Underpinning The Study Theoretical Orientations and Methodology Rationale for Examining the Period 1893 — 1915 The Contribution of the Study Outline of Chapters	1
Aim of the Study	2
The Contemporary Context of ECEC in NSW	2
Questions Underpinning The Study	5
Theoretical Orientations and Methodology	5/
Rationale for Examining the Period 1893 — 1915	6
The Contribution of the Study	<i></i> .7
Outline of Chapters	10
Notes About Footnoting and Referencing	14
Notes About Footnoting and Referencing A Personal Journey	15
CHAPTER ONE:	
THEORETICAL UNDERSTANDINGS	17
Part One: Social Constructionist Understandings about Meanings	
Multiple Meanings Exist for any Phenomenon	20
Are Postmodern Perspectives Problematic for a	0
Social Justice Orientation?	21
Childhood: An Example of a Socially Constructed Phenomenon	27
Childhood: An Example of a Socially Constructed Phenomenon Meanings are Constituted within Discourses	32
Discourses Actively Construct the World	33
Discourses Operate in a Field of Discursivity	34
Power Operates through Discourses	36
Part Two: The Use of History for Critiquing the Present	
Historicising the Present	
History is a Field of Hexerogenous Events	42
Constructs are Historically Contingent	44
History is Not a Story of Progress	
Historical Study is Subjective	
History of the Present Focuses on the Present	
Conclusion to Chapter One	
CHAPTER TWO: METHODOLOGY	53
Discourse Analysis	53 54
Unmasking the Naturalness of Constructs	
Making Visible the Power that Underlies Constructs	
Identifying Positions of Resistance	
Recognising the Dynamic Nature of Constructs	
Objects of the Analysis	
Previous Studies Utilising Discourse Analysis to Examine ECEC	
The Current Study	
The Culter Study	04

Method	65
Data Sources	65
Public Texts	
Professional Texts	68
Government Texts	70
Some Considerations in Relation to Historical Sources	72
Data analysis	72
Identifying Constructs	73
Identifying Power.	74
Identifying Discourses	/74
Conclusion to Chapter Two	76
Professional Texts Government Texts Some Considerations in Relation to Historical Sources Data analysis Identifying Constructs Identifying Power Identifying Discourses Conclusion to Chapter Two	
CHAPTER THREE:	
CONTEMPORARY CONSTRUCTS OF EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION	N
AND CADE, A CDITICAL DEVIEW, DADT ONE	77
Construct One: ECEC as Separate Education. Early Childhood: Birth to Eight Years.	77
Early Childhood: Birth to Eight Years	78
Early Childhood Education and Care: Birth to Eight Years	79
Two Distinct Constructs of ECEC	
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as Separate Education:	
Challenging the Assumptions Underlying the Separation of ECEC	81
Marginalising ECEC?	86
Marginalising ECEC?Crossing Educational Borders	88
ECEC as Preparation	90
Construct Two: ECEC as Progressive Education	92
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as Progressive Education:	
The Individual Focus	94
The Play Focus.	
The Dynamic Nature of ECEC Pedagogy	
Construct Three: ECEC as Scientific Education and Care	98
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as Scientific Education and Care	:
Questioning Scientific 'Truths'	
The Case of Brain Research'	
Challenging Developmentally Appropriate Practice	
Conclusion to Chapter Three	
CHAPTER FOUR: /	
CONTEMPORARY CONSTRUCTS OF EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATIO	N
AND CARE: A CRITICAL REVIEW: PART TWO	
Construct Four: ECEC as Socially Just Education	
Rescuing Children	
Reforming Society	
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as Socially Just:	
Vulnerable Children	121
What does the Curriculum Teach?	
Who has Access? Who Gets Saved?	
Teachers are Children's Saviours	128

Construct Five: ECEC as National Work	130
An Investment in the Future Potential of	Children130
A Commercial Venture that Benefits the	Nation134
Facilitating Workforce Participation	136
Problematising the Construct of ECEC as	
Constructing Children as Resources	s138
Using Economic Arguments to Adv	vocate ECEC141
Constructing ECEC as a Commodi	ty142
ECEC in Competition	146
Constructing ECEC as Facilitating	Workforce Participation149
Construct Six: ECEC as Women's Work	
Problematising the Construction of ECEO	C as Women's Work:
Care as Women's Work	/iews for ECEC
The Consequences of Essentialist V	Views for ECEC156
Conclusion to Chapter Four	159
	\mathcal{N}'
CHAPTER FIVE:)
EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CAR	F CONSTRUCTED AS
SEPARATE EDUCATION	
Some developments in Public Education in Ne	
School Attendance of Young Children in New	South Wales 164
Problematicing Six as the Lower Age of	Attendance166
Economic Discourses in Late Nineteenth Centu	
The Construction of Education within Econom	
The Construction of Education within Econom The Construction of Education for Children You	
Economic Discourses: An Unnecessary Expension	
	Children
The Construction of Education for Children You	
Economic Discourses: Too Young to Learn	
	ildren as Too Young to Learn183
The Construction of Education for Children Yo	
Economic Discourses: A Danger to Their Heal	th 185
Problematising The Construction of E	
, -	187
The Construction of Education for Children Yo	
Economic Discourses: Outside the Parameters	-
Problematising The Construction of Educ	
	rovided Education
The Construction of ECEC as Outside the Para	
Critical Moment in the Construction of a Separ	
Conclusion to Chapter Five	
Conclusion to Chapter 1110	
CHAPTER SIX:	
FREE KINDERGARTEN CONSTRUCTED AS	PROGRESSIVE EDUCATION 194
Liberal / Progressive Discourses	
	Construction of the Child
	Construction of Education200
Liberal / progressive discourses and the	
	202
1 10 MI DOLL OF THE PROPERTY O	

	The 'Failure' of Kindergarten in Public Schools	207
	The Construction of Free Kindergartens within Progressive Discourses: Models of	
	Kindergarten	212
	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergartens as Models of	
	,	214
	The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Early	
		217
	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Early Childhood	
		218
	The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses:	•••
	Preparation for Later Schooling	220
	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Preparation for	
	Later Schooling	221
	The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Child-	222
	Centred Education	222
	Problematicing the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Child-Centred	225
	Education	225
	The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Play-Based	227
	Education	227
	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Play-Based	229
	Education	229
	The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Progressive Discourses: Dynamic	230
	and Shifting Education	230
	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Dynamic and Shifting Education	236
	Conclusion to Chapter Six	.230
,	Conclusion to Chapter 51x	.431
	APTER SEVEN:	
ECE	EC CONSTRUCTED AS SCIENTIFIC EDUCATION AND CARE	.238
	,	239
	Scientific Discourses and the Construction of the Child	241
	Scientific Discourses and the Construction of Education	246
	The Construction of ECEC within Scientific Discourses: Education and Care	
	Based on Scientific Knowledge	248
	Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Based on Scientific	
	Knowledge	.249
	The Construction of Kindergarten within Scientific Discourses: Scientific	
	Teaching	.250
	Problematising the Construction of Kindergarten as Scientific Teaching	.253
	Conclusion to Chapter Seven	.259
CH	APTER EIGHT:	
	EC CONSTRUCTED AS SOCIALLY JUST EDUCATION	260
201	Liberal / Progressive Discourses and the Construction of Poverty	
	Approaches to Poverty: A Moral Issue	
	Approaches to Poverty: Changing the System	
	Approaches to Poverty: Changing the System	
	Ph-one-ro to to to to the fine the the treatment of the	/

]	Liberal / Progressive Discourses and the Construction of Children as Innocent and	
•	Vulnerable	272
,	The Construction of Free Kindergartens within Liberal / Progressive Discourses:	
	Philanthropic Organisations	276
	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergartens as Philanthropic	
	Organisations	280
,	The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Liberal / Progressive Discourses:	
-	Rescuing Poor Children	281
	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Rescuing Children:	
	Based on the Idea of The Vulnerable and Innocent Child	283
		286
•	The Construction of Free Kindergartens within Liberal / Progressive Discourses:	
	Forming Children	. 290
	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Forming Children:	
	Changing the Individual	.291
!	The Construction of Free Kindergarten within Liberal / Progressive Discourses:	
	Reforming Society	. 295
	Problematising the Construction of Free Kindergarten as Reforming	
	Society:	
	Colonising the Poor	.302
	The Focus on Mothers	.306
·	Conclusion to Chapter Eight	306
	Concression to Chapter 275mi	
CHA	PTER NINE:	
	C CONSTRUCTED AS NATIONAL WORK	.308
	Nationalist Discourses	.309
	Nationalist Discourses and the Construction of the Child as Valuable Asset	
	Nationalist Discourses and the Construction of the Child as Dangerous	
	The Construction Of ECEC within Nationalist Discourses: Saving Children	
	Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Saving Children	
	The Construction of ECEC within Nationalist Discourses: Producing Future	
	Productive Citizens	.334
	Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Producing Future Productive	. 55 1
	Citizens	342
	The Construction Of ECEC within Nationalist Discourses: Crime Prevention	
	Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Crime Prevention: Upholding	545
	the Construct of Children as Dangerous	340
	Conclusion to Chapter Nine	
	Conclusion to Chapter Tyline	551
CHA	PTER TEN:	
ECE	C CONSTRUCTED AS WOMEN'S WORK	
	Essential Woman Discourses and the Construction of Women	355
	New Woman Discourses and the Construction of Women	361
	New Woman Discourses and the Franchise	362
	New Woman Discourses and Female Higher Education	365
	New Woman Discourses and Female Employment	367
		367 370

The Construction of ECEC within Gender Discourses: Legitimate Employment	
for Women	374
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Legitimate Employment for	
Women	
The Construction of ECEC within Gender Discourses: Education for Women	384
Professional Education for Women	384
Mother Education	392
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Women's Education	
The Construction of ECEC within Gender Discourses: Work for the Benefit of	
Women	396
Problematising the Construction of ECEC as Work for the Benefit of	
Women	400
Women Conclusion to Chapter Ten	403
Conclusion to Chapter 101	105
CHAPTER ELEVEN:	
DISCUSSION	405
Historical and Contemporary Constructs of ECEC in NSW	405
Historical and Contemporary Constitutes of ECEC in NSW.	406
Constructs of ECEC in NSW Emerge within a Particular Discursive Framework.	407
Economic Discourses	407
Liberal / Progressive Discourses	408
Scientific Discourses	
Nationalist Discourses	410
Gender Discourses	411
Challenging Contemporary Constructs Are Alternative Constructs of ECEC Possible?	412
Are Alternative Constructs of ECEC Possible?	413
Implications of the Study for ECEC Professionals and Policy Makers	415
The Usefulness of Historical Study for Addressing Issues of the Present	420
Limitations of My Study Contribution of the Study to the Scholarly Literature	421
Contribution of the Study to the Scholarly Literature	422
Suggestions for Further Research	426
Concluding Thoughts	429
REFERENÇÉ LIST	431
APPENDICES	466
\mathcal{O}	
' \ /	
` /	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Diagrammatic representation of a discursive field. How constructs emerge from the discursive field. Diagrammatic representation of the constructs of ECEC identified and	35
Figure 2:	How constructs emerge from the discursive field	35
Figure 3:	Diagrammatic representation of the constructs of ECEC identified and	
	the discursive field within which they emerged\\\\	75
Figure 4:	The construction of ECEC as separate education within economic	
		161
Figure 5:	The latinary of the latest point, yes	173
Figure 6:	An interested party (Sir Henry Parkes attempting to gain school	,
	admittance for young children), 1893.	. 181
Figure 7:	The construction of ECEC as progressive education within liberal	
	progressive discourses.	. 196
Figure 8:	Program of Kindergarten Demonstration at Sydney	
	Town Hall, 19/2	.215
Figure 9:	Children and staff of Woolloomooloo Free Kindergarten, 1896	. 219
Figure 10:	Children playing in Golden Fleece Free Kindergarten,	
	Chippendale, circa 1913.	. 231
Figure 11:	The construction of ECEC as scientific education within scientific	
	discourses.	. 238
Figure 12:	The construction of ECEC as socially just education within liberal /	
	progressive discourses.	. 263
Figure 1/3:	A bathing party, 1898	. 303
Figure 14:	The construction of ECEC as national work within nationalist discourses.	
Figure 15:	Australia for the Australians, 1896.	.313
Figure 16:	Breaking the news, 1896.	
Figure 17:	Saluting the flag, 1914.	
Figure 18:	The construction of ECEC as women's work within gender discourses	
∕Figure 19:	House-meeting, Fröebel House, circa 1904	. 389
Figure 20:	The constructs of ECEC identified and the discursive field within which	
	they emerged	.406
	LIST OF APPENDICES	
Appendix 1:	Letter from KU Children's Services.	166
Appendix 2:/	Letter from The Bulletin.	
Appendix 3:	Letter from KU Children's Services.	
Appendix 4:	Letter from SDN Children's Services, Inc.	
Appendix 5:	Table summarising data sources.	
Appendix 6:	Example of early stage data analysis.	
Appendix 7:	Example of beginning coding and development of categories	
Appendix 8:	Example of beginning coding and development of categories	
Appendix 9:	Summary of Findings: Separate Education.	
	Summary of Findings: Progressive Education.	
	Summary of Findings: Trogressive Education: Summary of Findings: Scientific Education and Care	
	Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education	
	Summary of Findings: Socially Just Education. Summary of Findings: National Work	
	Summary of Findings: Women's Work.	
rippendix 14.	Dummary of Findings. Wolfers Work	+ / >

.

J

X

ABSTRACT

This study critically analyses contemporary early childhood education and care (ECEC) in New South Wales (NSW), Australia, by historicising the present. In doing so, it contributes to a growing body of work that problematises current constructs of ECEC. Taking a social constructionist perspective that meanings are socially constructed within discourses, I use critical discourse analysis to identify and problematise multiple constructions of ECEC evident in a range of written public, government and professional texts; first in the contemporary NSW context and then in the period 1893 – 1915, the 'moment' when ECEC first emerged as separate education in Australia.

In both periods, ECEC was constructed in similar ways; as: separate education; scientific education and care; progressive education, socially just education; national work and women's work. I show how both in the historical and contemporary contexts these constructs emerged within: economic; liberal / progressive; scientific; nationalist and gender discourses. I highlight how power operated through these constructs in a variety of ways to uphold dominant ways of being. I argue that the remarkable similarities between the construction of ECEC in the two periods suggests that these discourses create a discursive framework which creates the opportunity for multiple constructs of ECEC to be produced, but which also limits and confines what ECEC 'is' or can 'be'.

These findings assist those of us who advocate for ECEC to recognise and understand how alternative, and even contradictory constructs of ECEC may exist concurrently. Such understandings may facilitate dialogue between parties who may differ in their views about the purposes of ECEC. The findings also place a burden on us to continually critically reflect upon and clearly articulate how and why we view ECEC in the ways we do. Further, they provide incentives for us to look beyond the ways ECEC is constructed and to challenge the discourses that make up the discursive framework in which ECEC is situated.

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY

The work contained in this thesis has not been previously submitted for a degree or diploma at any other higher education institution. To the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no materials previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made.

	C KJ.		
l J			
/			

Date

Signed

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This journey has not been taken alone. A number of people have sustained me along the way. Foremost, I wish to give sincere appreciation to my Principal Supervisor, Associate Professor Jennifer Sumsion for her encouragement and support, and for always asking the 'hard' questions that led to the improvements in my work. I also give thanks to my Associate Supervisor, Dr Margaret White for her aesthetic eye and her passion for historical research and its place in the study of early childhood education and care.

I thank my colleagues at the Institute of Early Childhood, for providing a stimulating environment in which to work and study. In particular, I would like to thank Dr Sheila Degatardi, whose own doctoral journey often crossed paths with mine and consequently led to many constructive conversations, and Dr Shirley Wyver and Dr Catherine Neilsen-Hewett for their continued encouragement and invaluable insights, as well as their support for my growth as a tertiary teacher.

I thank Ms Antoinette le Marchant of KV Children's Services, for allowing me the privilege of accessing and photocopying The Kindergarten Union of New South Wales archives. I express my sincere appreciation to the staff of the Mitchell Wing of the State Library of New South Wales, for their wealth of knowledge about the archives, their patience and dedication.

Finally, my doctoral journey would not have been possible without the committed support of my family. To my husband, Arthur, whose quiet and patient support has been unyielding, I express my deepest love. To my children, Emily, James and Henry, who have shared the struggles, joys and pain with good humour and concern — my love as always, and thanks for all the tea!

